

Health research — synthesized and contextualized for use in Newfoundland & Labrador

# **2019 Evidence Update:** Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for Difficult Wound Healing in Newfoundland & Labrador

Wendy Lasisi, Pablo Navarro





Celebrating the 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program

#### Find CHRSP Reports Online

All reports of the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program are available online: **www.nlcahr.mun.ca/chrsp/** 

This Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program report was prepared by the Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR), Memorial University. It was developed through the analysis, interpretation and synthesis of scientific research and/or health technology assessments conducted by other parties. It also incorporates selected information provided by experts in the subject areas and synthesis methodologies. This document may not fully reflect all the scientific evidence available at the time this report was prepared. Other relevant scientific findings may have been reported since completion of this synthesis report.

Memorial University, NLCAHR, and the CHRSP project team make no warranty, express or implied, nor assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, data, product, or process disclosed in this report. Conclusions drawn from, or actions undertaken on the basis of, information included in this report are the sole responsibility of the user.

This report is the property of the Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR). Reproduction of this document for non-commercial purposes is permitted provided proper credit is given to NLCAHR.

For further information please contact: nlcahr@mun.ca

**Cite as:** Lasisi, Wendy, Navarro, Pablo (2019). 2019 Evidence Update: Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for Difficult Wound Healing in Newfoundland & Labrador St. John's, NL: Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research, Memorial University

ISBN: 978-0-88901-492-3

# **Table of Contents**

Glossary
Background
Research Question
Summary of key findings and their implications for decision makers
Evidence included in this report7
Overview of the evidence
Wound types studied in 2012 and in this update9
HBOT for Diabetic and Non-Diabetic Pressure Ulcers9
HBOT to reduce major amputation in diabetic foot ulcers10
HBOT to reduce minor amputation from diabetic foot ulcers11
HBOT for healing wounds in diabetic foot ulcers11
HBOT to reduce wound size in diabetic foot ulcers12
HBOT for delayed radiation-induced injury (DRII)13
HBOT for pelvic region soft tissue DRII14
HBOT for head and neck soft tissue DRII14
HBOT for thermal burns15
HBOT for skin grafts and flaps16
Summary of key findings from the evidence16
References

# Glossary

Adjunctive Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy	Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy that is used to supplement or to add to	
	other treatment modalities rather than being the sole treatment	
	used.	
Adverse events	An unexpected medical problem that happens during treatment with	
	a drug or therapy.	
AMSTAR	An 11-item instrument used to assess the methodological rigor of	
	systematic reviews.	
Bone continuity	Unbroken connection of bone.	
Brachial plexopathy	Disease arising from damage to the nerves that extend to the	
	shoulder, arm and hand.	
Delayed radiation-induced injury (DRII)	Injury arising from any form of radiation therapy for cancer.	
Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU)	Common foot problems in persons with Diabetes Mellitus, caused by	
	a combination of factors that often lead to severe foot ulceration,	
	gangrene and amputation.	
Graft survival	Probability of graft functioning after transplant.	
Hyperbaric oxygen treatment (HBOT)	The therapeutic intermittent administration of oxygen in a chamber at	
	greater than sea-level atmospheric pressures (three atmospheres).	
Implant failure	Loss of dental implant or failure to fulfil its purpose.	
Ischemic DFU	Diabetic foot ulcer in patients with restriction in blood supply to the	
	affected tissue.	
Major amputation	Removal of all or part of a limb above the wrist or ankle.	
Minor amputation	Removal of all or part of a hand or foot.	
Mucosal cover	Mucous membrane that covers cavities in the body.	
Non-Ischemic DFU	Diabetic foot ulcers in patients with adequate blood circulation to the	
	affected tissue.	
Osteoradionecrosis	Necrosis/tissue death of bone as a result of exposure to radiation.	
Post-implantation complication	Unexpected problem that arises after implantation.	
Post-organ transplantation	Restoration of blood flow following organ transplantation.	
revascularization		
Pressure ulcer	Ulcerations caused by prolonged pressure on the skin and tissues	
	when one stays in one position for a long period of time.	
Radiation proctitis	Inflammation and damage to the lower parts of the colon after	
	exposure to x-rays and radiation.	
Radiation rectitis	Another term for radiation proctitis.	
Skin graft	Skin for grafting that is wholly removed from one part of the body and	
	transferred to another site.	
Skin flap	Skin from grafting that is only partially removed from one part of the	
	body so that it retains its own blood supply during transfer to another	
	site.	
SF-36	36-item health survey used to measure quality of life.	
SOMA-LENT	A scale used to measure Late Effects on Normal Tissue (LENT) from	
	radiation therapy, from several perspectives: Subjective, Objective,	
	Management, and Analytical (SOMA).	
Thermal burns	Injury resulting from the skin making contact with heated objects.	
Transcutaneous oxygen tension	Oxygen level of the tissue under the skin.	
Unknown perfusion DFU	Diabetic foot ulcer in patients in which blood circulation is	
	undetermined.	
Wagner Grade	Grading systems used to score severity of diabetic foot ulcers.	
Wound dehiscence	Rupturing of wound along a surgical incision.	

## Background

In 2012, the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program (CHRSP), in partnership with health system partners in Newfoundland and Labrador and the Canadian Agency for Drugs in Technology and Health (CADTH), published a contextualized health evidence synthesis report on the clinical and cost effectiveness of hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) for difficult wound healing in Newfoundland and Labrador (1). For the 2012 study, the Project Team was led by Pablo Navarro, Research Officer and CHRSP Project Coordinator at the Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR) and by Rhonda Boudreau, Research Officer at CADTH. That report is published online.<sup>1</sup>

To provide decision makers with more recent evidence on this topic, the current report updates our original synthesis with evidence from moderate to high quality systematic reviews<sup>2</sup> published since 2010. Furthermore, this study was undertaken with an updated version of the CHRSP methodology (2), including a new CHRSP Evidence Rating System (ERS).

The CHRSP Evidence Rating System assesses the strength of the combined body of evidence for a particular intervention to achieve a given outcome for a defined population. The strength of the body of evidence increases with the quality of the systematic reviews included in the analysis, the number of unique primary research studies included within the reviews, and the consistency of the findings. We use the AMSTAR instrument (3,4) to appraise the methodological quality of systematic reviews (5) and to categorize systematic reviews in terms of their methodological quality: An AMSTAR Score of 0 to 3 indicates Low Quality; an AMSTAR Score of 4 to 7 indicates Moderate Quality; and an AMSTAR Score of 8 to 11 indicates High Quality.

Strength of the Body of Evidence	# of Systematic Reviews	# of Primary Studies included in the review literature
Strong	2 or more High Quality reviews	10+
Moderate	1 or more High Quality reviews	10+
Weak	1 or more High Quality reviews	5+
Very Weak	1 review with moderate or inconsistent findings	1-4

Largely inconsistent findings, regardless of the number and quality of systematic reviews, are interpreted as a "Very Weak" body of evidence by default (see Table 1).

Table 1: CHRSP ERS: Evidence thresholds for strength of body of evidence

The CHRSP Evidence Rating System also considers whether the body of evidence: favors the intervention (i.e., the evidence indicates that the intervention works effectively enough to consider implementing it); indicates no benefit when the intervention is compared to the control (i.e., the intervention is no better than usual care); or is unable to indicate whether the intervention achieves better outcomes than the control (i.e., the report authors cannot draw any conclusions because there is a lack of evidence or there is conflicting evidence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>https://www.nlcahr.mun.ca/CHRSP/HBOT.php</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A systematic review is a summary of results from available primary research studies (e.g., controlled trials) that provides decision makers with a high level of evidence on the effectiveness of healthcare interventions.

# **Research Question**

The following research question was posed in the original 2012 *Evidence in Context* report on this topic and it remains the research question for this 2019 Evidence Update:

"What does the scientific literature tell us about the clinical and economic effectiveness of hyperbaric oxygen therapy for difficult wound healing (i.e., diabetic and non-diabetic pressure ulcers, delayed radiation-induced injury, thermal burns, skin grafts, and post-organ transplantation revascularization) considering the expected patient populations and given the social, geographic, economic and political contexts of Newfoundland and Labrador?"

## Summary of key findings and their implications for decision makers

The findings of this update are consistent with those of the original report and indicate that, overall, more high-quality research is needed in this area. The following summarizes our key findings:

- As a treatment for diabetic foot ulcers, a strong body of evidence indicates that HBOT does not reduce minor amputations whereas weak evidence points to its effectiveness in reducing major amputations. These findings may be attributed to the fact that those undergoing a minor amputation will no longer require a major amputation (as a result, minor amputations do not decrease but major amputations do). A strong body of evidence shows that HBOT, as adjunctive therapy, is significantly more effective than usual care to reduce the severity of non-healing diabetic foot ulcers.
- HBOT has been shown to be clinically-effective in the treatment of delayed radiation-induced injuries of the head and neck and of the pelvic regions by improving wound healing and quality of life. The economic effectiveness of HBOT for treating these wounds is unknown.
- The benefits of HBOT for wound healing will depend on the severity of the injury and on the timeliness of treatment.
- There is insufficient evidence to determine the clinical or economic effectiveness of HBOT for the treatment of non-diabetic pressure ulcers, thermal burns, skin grafts and flaps, and post-organ transplantation revascularization.
- More research is needed to determine the effectiveness of HBOT for healing a variety of wounds and decision makers can expect future studies to have an impact on the body of evidence for the effectiveness of HBOT to treat conditions for which there is insufficient evidence at present.
- Monitoring and documenting patient outcomes at the St. John's Hyperbaric Oxygen facility in Eastern Health will support future decisions about the most suitable patient populations for Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy.

## **Evidence included in this report**

This report includes the results from 19 systematic reviews and one health technology assessment. Eight of the included studies were rated as being of "High Quality" and twelve were of "Moderate Quality." We also found 18 reviews that were rated as being of "Low Quality" and were therefore excluded from our synthesis. The inter-rater reliability for appraising methodological quality was 0.81, which is considered high (6). Table 2 below summarizes our appraisal of the evidence for this update.

Methodological Quality	Reference	AMSTAR Score	Was it a Cochrane Review?
	Bennett 2016 (7)	81.82	Yes
	Elraiyah 2016 (8)	90.91	No
High Quality	Eskes 2013 (9)	100.00	Yes
(8 included studies)	Esposito 2013 (10)	90.91	Yes
	Kranke 2015 (11)	81.82	Yes
	Liu 2013 (12)	72.73	No
	Rollason 2016 (13)	90.91	Yes
	van de Weterring 2016 (14)	90.91	Yes
	Cardinal 2018 (15)	54.44	No
	Game 2016 (16)	54 55	No
Moderate Quality	Hoggan 2014 (17)	63.64	No
(12 included studies)	Huang 2015 (18)	45.45	No
(	HOO 2017 (19)	54 55	No
	Lauwrak 2015 (20)	54.55	No
	O'Poilly 2013 (20)	54.55	No
	Deters 2015 (21)	03.04	No
	Peters 2016 (22)	54.55	No
	Reddy 2015 (23)	45.45	NO
	Santema 2015 (24)	45.45	No
	Stoekenbroek 2014 (25)	63.64	No
	<b>Zhao 2017</b> (26)	63.64	No
	Allen 2013 (27)	9.09	No
Low Quality	Braun 2014 (29)	0.00	No
(18 excluded studies)	Craighead 2011 (30)	18.18	No
	Dauwe 2014 (31)	27.27	No
	Fox 2015 (32)	18.18	No
	Gibson 2013 (34)	0.00	NO
	Hanson 2012 (35)	27.27	No
	Hunt 2011 (36)	36.36	No
	Jensen 2011 (37)	18.18	No
	Lovelace 2014 (38)	9.09	No
	Nabii 2010 (39) Nelamangala 2016 (40)	36.36	No
	Payne 2013 (41)	9.09	No
	Peterson 2010 (42)	9.09	No
	Ravi 2017 (43)	9.09	No
	Spiegelberg 2010 (44)	0.00	No

Table 2: Critical appraisal results for eligible systematic reviews

Please see the <u>Online Companion Document</u> for details about our methodology for searching and filtering, data extraction and synthesis.

## **Overview of the evidence**

In the original 2012 report on this topic, we noted that the systematic review evidence summarized relatively few primary research studies on HBOT for difficult wounds; moreover, we noted that the included research could be characterized as having methodological weaknesses, small sample sizes, and inadequate follow-up. Overall, the evidence in 2012 pointed to the need for more high-quality primary research and subsequent systematic reviews / meta-analyses to support any firm conclusions.

When searching for systematic reviews to include in this 2019 update, we noted that the number of reviews about HBOT for difficult wounds had increased significantly between 2010 and 2018:

- the 2012 report included studies from 2005 to 2010 and identified **13** systematic reviews (2.2 publications/year);
- this 2019 update spans the period from 2011 to 2018 and identified **38** systematic reviews (4.2 publications/year), almost twice the rate of systematic review publications per year.

We analyzed the new systematic review evidence to find out whether this dramatic increase in publications reflects an actual increase in primary research studies on this topic or if it represents an increase in systematic reviews that summarize many of the same primary studies (i.e., we asked if more original primary research had been carried out on the topic or if there were simply more reviews of the same research). Figures 1 and 2 below show our analysis of the number of unique primary research studies included in reviews included in the 2012 report and the number of primary studies included in this 2019 Evidence Update (45).



Figure 1: Number of unique primary studies of HBOT for Diabetic Foot Ulcers from included systematic reviews.



Figure 2: Number of unique primary studies of HBOT for Delayed Radiation-Induced Injuries from included systematic reviews.

Unfortunately, our analysis indicates that the increase in systematic review publications was **not** the result of a similar increase in the number of primary research studies since 2010. While we found some new primary research studies in the review literature, most studies that were included in the new systematic reviews were published prior to 2010; this seems to indicate that systematic review authors have gotten better at identifying primary research: by more thorough search techniques; by improved access to journals and/or trials; and, possibly, by having fewer restrictions on the language of publication.

## Wound types studied in 2012 and in this update

The 2012 report studied HBOT for treating five different types of difficult wounds:

- 1. diabetic and non-diabetic pressure ulcers,
- 2. delayed radiation-induced injury,
- 3. thermal burns,
- 4. skin grafts and flaps, and
- 5. post-organ transplantation revascularization.

This update will address the first four types of wounds. Post-organ transplantation revascularization is excluded: this procedure is not carried out in Newfoundland and Labrador and is, therefore, not directly relevant. There was also a lack of evidence on this topic.

## **HBOT for Diabetic and Non-Diabetic Pressure Ulcers**

For this update, we identified thirteen new systematic reviews studying the effectiveness of HBOT to treat diabetic and non-diabetic pressure ulcers. Three of the reviews were AMSTAR-rated as being of "High Quality" and ten as being of "Moderate Quality." In the original report, we noted some inconsistencies in the terminology: PubMed does not include a Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) for 'diabetic pressure ulcer' but does include the terms 'pressure ulcer' and 'diabetic foot ulcer.' These two

terms describe different wounds, produced by different mechanisms. The literature still refers almost exclusively to *diabetic foot ulcers* as defined by PubMed.<sup>3</sup> Ultimately, we used combinations of these terms, along with others that are descriptive of skin ulcers, to identify evidence for this category of wound healing (see the <u>Online Companion Document</u> for details). The available literature for this update focuses mainly on diabetic foot ulcers (DFU), as it did when the original report was carried out.

The main clinical outcomes of interest for diabetic foot ulcers were major amputation, minor amputation,<sup>4</sup> wound healing, and wound-size reduction. Other outcomes lacked robust evidence, but they included cost effectiveness, adverse events, resolution of infections, time to heal, length of stay, mortality, quality of life and transcutaneous oxygen tensions. The findings for these outcomes are updated below.

#### HBOT to reduce major amputation in diabetic foot ulcers

We identified ten systematic reviews: three high-quality studies (8,11,12) and seven moderate-quality studies (18–22,25,26) that reported on HBOT as an intervention to reduce major amputation from diabetic foot ulcers. All but one of these reviews (25) considered all types of diabetic foot ulcers together. Overall, we found a very weak body of evidence showing HBOT as having a positive effect in reducing major amputation from diabetic foot ulcers. This "very weak" rating results from numerous disagreements between the high-quality and moderate-quality reviews.

The highest-rated Cochrane Review on this topic (11) reported no difference between HBOT and a

Overall, we found a very weak body of evidence showing HBOT as having a positive effect in reducing major amputation from diabetic foot ulcers. control group. The two other high-quality reviews (8,12) favored HBOT over usual care. While the Cochrane Review based its conclusions on five randomized controlled trials (RCTs), the two other reviews (8,12) based their conclusions on the same trials plus nine additional observational studies. Moreover, using the rationale that one trial had not employed a control group and had a high risk of bias, the Cochrane Review authors weighted the RCT with the largest number of participants considerably lower than the other reviewers

(8, 12) weighted the same study. Compounding this disagreement, the moderate-quality reviews (18–22,26) produced a weak body of evidence showing no difference in major amputation between HBOT and usual care. It is also worth noting that three reviews (11,18,25) categorized diabetic foot ulcers by their mechanisms or by Wagner Grades and that these reviews also produced a weak body of evidence showing no difference in major amputation rates, with the exception of Wagner Grade 2 or lower, where HBOT was favored over usual care to reduce major amputations. As a result of so many conflicting findings, all reviews taken together can produce only a very weak body of evidence that HBOT decreases major amputations caused by diabetic foot ulcers (See Table 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pubmed's Medical Subject Heading defines diabetic foot ulcers as *"common foot problems in persons with diabetes mellitus, caused by any combination of factors,"* but does not include pressure as one of the causes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A *major* amputation is the removal of all or part of a limb from above the wrist or ankle. A *minor* amputation is defined as the removal of all or part of a hand or foot.

As in the original report, this finding may be subject to change once more high-quality primary research is undertaken on this issue.

Evidence Summary: HBOT to reduce major amputation in diabetic foot ulcers (DFU)		
Population Strength of body of evidence Finding		
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Very weak	Positive effect
Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Non-Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Unknown Perfusion	Weak	No difference
Wagner Grade 2 or lower	Weak	Positive effect
Wagner Grade 3 or higher	Weak	No difference

Table 3: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for major amputation in diabetic foot ulcers

#### HBOT to reduce minor amputation from diabetic foot ulcers

We identified nine systematic reviews, consisting of two high-quality studies (11,12) and seven moderate- quality studies (18–22,25,26) that reported on minor amputation from diabetic foot ulcers. Eight reviews (11,12,18–22,26) considered all types of diabetic foot ulcers and produced a strong body of evidence showing no difference between HBOT and usual care to reduce the likelihood of minor amputation. Two reviews (12,25) categorized diabetic foot ulcers by their mechanisms or Wagner Grades, and produced a weak body of evidence also showing no difference in minor amputation with HBOT, with the exception of Wagner Grade 2 or lower where it favors HBOT (See Table 4).

The 2012 report indicated a possible *increase* in the risk of minor amputation as a paradoxical consequence of the reduction in the risk for major amputation.<sup>5</sup> Again, this finding was sensitive to change with further research.

The 2019 update differs from the original report in this regard: the most up-to-date research provides a strong body of evidence showing that there is *no difference* in minor amputation rates with HBOT in diabetic foot ulcers.

Evidence Summary: HBOT to reduce minor amputation in diabetic foot ulcers		
Population	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Strong	No difference
Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Non-Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Unknown Perfusion DFU	Weak	No difference
Wagner Grade 2 or lower DFU	Weak	Positive effect
Wagner Grade 3 or higher DFU	Weak	No difference

Table 4: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for minor amputation in diabetic foot ulcers

#### HBOT for healing wounds in diabetic foot ulcers

Our update identified ten systematic reviews, consisting of three high quality studies (8,11,12) and six moderate quality studies (16,18,19,21,24–26) that reported on HBOT for wound healing in diabetic foot ulcers. Six reviews (11,12,16,19,21,26) considered all types of diabetic foot ulcers and produced a strong

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The paradoxical consequence from the original report stated that, possibly and plausibly, having undergone HBOT treatment, a patient who might otherwise have required a major amputation would now require only a minor amputation. As a result, HBOT, as a therapy, might have been seen as linked statistically to an increased incidence of minor amputations because it had decreased the incidence of major amputation.

body of evidence showing a positive effect of HBOT in wound healing, although there were some disagreements between the high-quality and moderate-quality reviews.

Two high-quality reviews (11,12) found a positive effect for HBOT to improve wound healing, but four moderate-quality reviews (16,19,21,26) were split, with two finding a positive effect (16,19) and two finding no difference (21,26). When all the reviews are considered together, they produce a strong body of evidence showing a positive effect for HBOT in healing wounds from diabetic foot ulcers. This positive effect is reported as most evident at up to six months post-treatment as shown by two high-quality reviews (11,12). Four reviews (11,18,24,25) categorized diabetic foot ulcers by their mechanisms or Wagner Grades, and produced a weak body of evidence showing a positive effect in most categories, with the exception of non-ischemic diabetic foot ulcers and mixed ulcers where they showed no difference (See Table 5).

This update re-affirms the findings from our original 2012 report by providing a strong body of evidence that finds that HBOT improves wound healing in diabetic foot ulcers.

Evidence Summary: HBOT for wound healing in diabetic foot ulcers		
Population	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Strong	Positive effect
Ischemic DFU	Weak	Positive effect
Non-Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Unknown Perfusion DFU	Weak	Positive effect
Wagner Grade 2 or lower DFU	Weak	Positive effect
Mixed Ulcers	Weak	No difference
Wound healing at 6 months or less		
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Strong	Positive effect
Venous Ulcers	Weak	Positive effect
Wound healing at 1 year or less		
Ischemic DFU	Weak	Positive effect
Wagner Grade 3 or higher DFU	Weak	Positive effect

Table 5: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for wound healing in diabetic foot ulcers

#### HBOT to reduce wound size in diabetic foot ulcers

We found five systematic reviews, consisting of one high-quality study (11) and four moderate-quality studies (19,21,25,26) that reported on wound-size reduction in diabetic foot ulcers. Four reviews (11,19,21,26) considered all types of diabetic foot ulcers and produced a weak body of evidence showing a positive effect, but no difference at six months or fewer, post-treatment. Two reviews (11,25) categorized diabetic foot ulcers by their mechanisms or Wagner Grades, and also produced a weak body of evidence at up to six months but no difference in ischemic and non-ischemic ulcers at up to six months (See Table 6).

The original report did not include wound-size reduction as a distinct outcome; rather, it was grouped together with wound healing. However, the systematic reviews included in this 2019 update have reported wound healing and wound-size reduction as individual outcomes, indicating a weak body of evidence that favors HBOT for reducing wound size in diabetic foot ulcers (See Table 6).

Evidence Summary: HBOT for wound-size reduction in diabetic foot ulcers		
Population	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Weak	Positive effect
Mixed Ulcers	Weak	Positive effect
Wound-size reduction at 6 months or less		
Diabetic Foot Ulcers	Weak	No difference
Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Non-Ischemic DFU	Weak	No difference
Venous Ulcers	Weak	Positive effect

Table 3: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for wound size reduction in diabetic foot ulcers

#### New for this update: HBOT for other outcomes in diabetic pressure ulcers

The systematic reviews included in this update reported on other outcomes for diabetic pressure ulcers that are not found in the original report. They include:

- cost effectiveness (12,24),
- adverse events (12,19,20,26),
- resolution of infections (12,18,22),
- length of stay (22),
- mortality (19–21),
- quality of life (11,12,19–21),
- time to heal (19), and
- transcutaneous oxygen tensions (11).

The body of evidence for each of these outcomes is characterized as weak. The body of evidence for two outcomes, cost effectiveness and resolution of infections, indicated a positive effect (i.e., favoring HBOT). The body of evidence for the remaining outcomes indicated no difference when HBOT was compared to the control (Table 7).

Evidence Summary: HBOT for other outcomes in diabetic pressure ulcers		
Outcomes	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
Adverse events	Weak	No difference
Cost Effectiveness	Weak	Positive effect
Length of stay	Weak	No difference
Mortality	Weak	No difference
Quality of Life	Weak	No difference
Resolution of Infections	Weak	Positive effect
Time to Heal	Weak	No difference
Transcutaneous Oxygen Tensions	Weak	No difference

Table 4: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for other outcomes in diabetic foot ulcers

# HBOT for delayed radiation-induced injury (DRII)

This update identified seven systematic reviews, consisting of four high-quality (7,10,13,14) and three moderate-quality (15,17,20) that reported on HBOT for DRII generally, and for the treatment of delayed radiation-induced injury (DRII) in two cancer types: soft tissue injuries from pelvic region cancers and bone-related injuries from radiation treatment of head and neck cancers.

## HBOT for DRII generally

Two reviews (17,20) reported on delayed radiation inducted injuries generally. They produced a weak body of evidence showing no difference for HBOT in mortality or quality of life using the SF-36 health survey (Table 8). One review (20) included only one primary study and was unable to draw any conclusions, while the other review (17) reported only on the safety of HBOT, stating that no deaths were attributed to the therapy. (Table 8)

#### HBOT for pelvic region soft tissue DRII

This update is consistent with the original report as it provides a weak body of evidence favoring HBOT for the treatment of pelvic region soft tissue injury by showing improved healing. The main clinical outcomes for pelvic region soft tissue injury reported in in the original study and in this update are:

- quality of life,
- resolution of symptoms,
- scores based "Subjective, Objective, Management, and Analytical" measurements of "Late Effects on Normal Tissue" (i.e., SOMA-LENT), and
- wound healing.

Five reviews (10,13–15,20) reported on soft tissue injuries from pelvic region cancer radiation treatments, specifically on radiation rectitis and proctitis. They produced a very weak to weak body of evidence showing a positive effect of HBOT on all outcomes. The weak evidence favors HBOT by showing improved quality of life, resolution of symptoms and wound healing (Table 8).

## HBOT for head and neck soft tissue DRII

The updated findings for head and neck soft tissue injury are also consistent with the original report, as they show some improvement, but the findings are still of limited strength (See Table 8). The main clinical outcomes for HBOT in for head and neck soft tissue injury examined in the original report were:

- implant failure,
- mucosal cover,
- symptom resolution,
- wound dehiscence, and
- wound healing.

This update reports on the same outcomes, and includes three new outcomes:

- bone continuity,
- pain, and
- complications after dental implantation.

Two reviews (7,20) reported on bone-related injuries from head and neck cancer radiation treatment, specifically osteoradionecrosis and brachial plexopathy. They produced a weak body of evidence showing either a positive effect or no difference for HBOT. This weak body of evidence also favors HBOT by showing improved bone continuity, mucosal cover, wound dehiscence and wound healing at 6

months or less. The evidence also shows no difference for HBOT in implant failure or loss of dental implant, pain, post-implantation complication and resolution of symptoms (Table 8).

Evidence Summary: HBOT for delayed radiation-induced injury (DRII)		
Outcome	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
HBOT for DRII generally		
Mortality (safety)	Moderate	Positive effect
Mortality (1 year)	Weak	No difference
Quality of Life (SF-36)	Weak	No difference
HBOT for DRII in pelvic region soft ti	ssue (proctitis, rectitis. etc.)	
Quality of Life	Weak	Positive effect
Resolution of Symptoms	Very weak	Positive effect
SOMA-LENT	Weak	Positive effect
Wound Healing	Weak	Positive effect
HBOT for DRII in head and neck soft	tissue (osteoradionecrosis, brachial p	lexopathy, etc.)
Bone Continuity	Weak	Positive effect
Implant Failure/Loss of Dental Implant	Weak	No difference
Mucosal Cover	Weak	Positive effect
Pain	Weak	No difference
Post-Implantation Complication	Weak	No difference
Resolution of Symptoms	Weak	No difference
Wound Dehiscence	Weak	Positive effect
Wound Healing (6 months or less)	Weak	Positive effect

Table 5: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for delayed radiation-induced injury.

## **HBOT for thermal burns**

This update identified one moderate-quality systematic review that reported on HBOT for the treatment of thermal burns (24). The main clinical outcomes in the original report were graft success, mortality, sepsis and wound healing. Evidence from this update does not include findings for these outcomes; instead, it reports on two new outcomes: cost effectiveness and length of stay.

The evidence from this update produced a weak body of evidence for HBOT showing no difference in cost but a reduced length of stay (24). This update agrees with the original report, as there is still insufficient evidence to determine the clinical effectiveness of HBOT for the treatment of thermal burns (See Table 9).

Evidence Summary: HBOT for Thermal Burns		
Outcome Strength of body of evidence Finding		
Cost Effectiveness	Weak	No difference
Length of Stay	Weak	Positive effect

Table 6: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for thermal burns

## HBOT for skin grafts and flaps

This update identified one high-quality Cochrane review that reported on HBOT for the treatment of skin grafts and flaps (9). While the main clinical outcome in the original report was wound healing, this update reports on all of the following outcomes:

- wound healing,
- adverse events,
- amputation,
- graft survival,
- length of stay, and
- time to heal.

The only review included in the original report discussed three primary studies and produced a weak body of evidence showing no difference for HBOT in adverse events, amputation, graft survival, length of stay and time to heal, but HBOT as having a positive effect for wound healing (9).

This update's findings are consistent with the original report as we found that there is still insufficient evidence to support or contradict the use of HBOT to treat skin grafts and flaps (Table 10)

Evidence Summary: HBOT for Skin Grafts and Flaps		
Outcome	Strength of body of evidence	Finding
Adverse Events	Weak	No difference
Amputation	Weak	No difference
Graft Survival	Weak	No difference
Length of Stay	Weak	No difference
Time to Heal	Weak	No difference
Wound Healing	Weak	Positive effect

Table 7: Evidence for clinical effectiveness of HBOT for skin grafts and flaps

## Summary of key findings from the evidence

...the evidence we found for this update suffers from the same limitations as the evidence we found in 2012 – a lack of high-quality primary research studies on HBOT for the treatment of difficult wounds. This update seeks to add to the synthesis of the body of evidence studied in the 2012 *Evidence in Context* report on the clinical and economical effectiveness of HBOT for difficult wound healing by providing decision makers with new evidence from systematic reviews published since 2010.

Overall, the findings of this update are consistent with those of the original report. For the most part, the evidence remains weak for the effectiveness of HBOT as an adjunctive treatment for diabetic/non-diabetic pressure ulcers, delayed radiation-induced injuries, thermal burns and skin grafts/flaps. This can be

attributed to the fact that, although we found an increase in the number of systematic reviews

#### 2019 EVIDENCE UPDATE Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for Difficult Wound Healing

published in recent years, the newer systematic reviews mostly cover primary studies that had already been included in the original report (or that *should* have been included but were not identified in the older systematic reviews). In essence, the systematic reviews included in our original report and the newer systematic reviews included in this evidence update are largely assessing the same body of original evidence with a few new inclusions. Consequently, the evidence we found for this update suffers from the same limitations as the evidence we found in 2012 – a lack of high-quality primary research studies on HBOT for the treatment of difficult wounds.

Post-organ transplantation revascularization is excluded from this update for two reasons: because organ transplantation is not carried out in Newfoundland and Labrador and is, therefore, not directly relevant and there was a lack of evidence on this topic.

We wish to point out that this update focuses on the *clinical* effectiveness of HBOT, and not the economical effectiveness, due to a lack of economic evidence.

#### The largest body of evidence in this report relates to HBOT for diabetic/non-diabetic foot ulcers:



A strong body of evidence indicates that HBOT *does not* reduce the likelihood of minor amputations in diabetic foot ulcers. However, as in the original report, it is both possible and plausible that this finding is the result of a paradox: having undergone HBOT treatment, a patient who might otherwise have required a major amputation would now require only a minor amputation. As a result, HBOT, as a therapy, might be seen as being linked to having no effect on reducing the incidence of minor amputations *because* it has decreased the incidence of major amputations. Unfortunately, the available evidence cannot support or refute this possibility.



As a result of disagreements between high-quality and moderate-quality systematic reviews assessed in this update, the evidence for the effectiveness of HBOT to reduce major amputations in diabetic foot ulcers must be characterized as being very weak. Such divergence in the findings precludes drawing any firm conclusions on the effectiveness of HBOT in reducing the likelihood of major amputations.



A strong body of evidence shows that HBOT as adjunctive therapy is significantly more effective than usual care to reduce the severity of non-healing diabetic foot ulcers. Although there is no strong evidence for reducing the likelihood of amputation, there is strong evidence for improved wound healing. This could mean that improved wound healing could make a major amputation become a minor amputation, or that improved wound healing is a more favorable outcome for patients whose ulcers are not so severe as to result in amputation.

#### 2019 EVIDENCE UPDATE Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for Difficult Wound Healing

#### This update also reports on HBOT for Delayed Radiation-Induced Injury (DRII):



As the result of weak evidence, it is difficult to judge the clinical effectiveness of HBOT in treating delayed-radiation induced injuries in general. Overall, further research is needed in this area, although existing studies do indicate that HBOT is safe for treating DRII.



Weak evidence also indicates that adjunctive HBOT could be beneficial for treating osteoradionecrosis, radiation rectitis, and radiation proctitis by resulting in improved wound healing and quality of life.

#### This update also reports on the clinical effectiveness of HBOT for treating other difficult wounds:



When considering HBOT to treat thermal burns, skin grafts and flaps, the findings of this update are largely consistent with the original report: the research is limited and there is still insufficient evidence to support or contradict the effectiveness of HBOT in treating these conditions.

## References

- Navarro P, Bornstein S, Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for difficult wound healing in Newfoundland & Labrador [Internet]. St. John's, N.L.: Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research; 2013 [cited 2018 Nov 28]. 43 p. (Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program). Available from: https://www.nlcahr.mun.ca/CHRSP/HBOT\_FULL\_REPORT.pdf
- NLCAHR. Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research | CHRSP Methodology: Evidence in Context Reports [Internet]. [cited 2016 Oct 17]. Available from: http://www.nlcahr.mun.ca/CHRSP/CHRSPMethods.php
- 3. Shea BJ, Bouter LM, Peterson J, Boers M, Andersson N, Ortiz Z, et al. External validation of a measurement tool to assess systematic reviews (AMSTAR). PloS One. 2007 Dec 26;2(12):e1350.
- 4. Shea BJ, Hamel C, Wells GA, Bouter LM, Kristjansson E, Grimshaw J, et al. AMSTAR is a reliable and valid measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009 Oct;62(10):1013–20.
- 5. Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2007 Feb 15;7:10.
- 6. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. In: 2nd ed. Hillsdale, N.J: Routledge; 1988. p. 560.
- 7. Bennett MH, Feldmeier J, Hampson NB, Smee R, Milross C. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiation tissue injury. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Apr 28;4:CD005005.
- 8. Elraiyah T, Tsapas A, Prutsky G, Domecq JP, Hasan R, Firwana B, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of adjunctive therapies in diabetic foot ulcers. J Vasc Surg. 2016 Feb;63(2 Suppl):46S-58S.e1-2.
- 9. Eskes A, Vermeulen H, Lucas C, Ubbink DT. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for treating acute surgical and traumatic wounds. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Dec 16;(12):CD008059.
- 10. Esposito M, Worthington HV. Interventions for replacing missing teeth: hyperbaric oxygen therapy for irradiated patients who require dental implants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Sep 30;(9):CD003603.
- 11. Kranke P, Bennett MH, Martyn-St James M, Schnabel A, Debus SE, Weibel S. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for chronic wounds. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 Jun 24;(6):CD004123.
- 12. Liu R, Li L, Yang M, Boden G, Yang G. Systematic review of the effectiveness of hyperbaric oxygenation therapy in the management of chronic diabetic foot ulcers. Mayo Clin Proc. 2013 Feb;88(2):166–75.
- Rollason V, Laverriere A, MacDonald LCI, Walsh T, Tramer MR, Vogt-Ferrier NB. Interventions for treating bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (BRONJ). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Feb 26;2:CD008455.

- 14. van de Wetering FT, Verleye L, Andreyev HJN, Maher J, Vlayen J, Pieters BR, et al. Non-surgical interventions for late rectal problems (proctopathy) of radiotherapy in people who have received radiotherapy to the pelvis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Apr 25;4:CD003455.
- 15. Cardinal J, Slade A, McFarland M, Keihani S, Hotaling JN, Myers JB. Scoping Review and Metaanalysis of Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for Radiation-Induced Hemorrhagic Cystitis. Curr Urol Rep. 2018 Apr 13;19(6):38.
- 16. Game FL, Apelqvist J, Attinger C, Hartemann A, Hinchliffe RJ, Londahl M, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to enhance healing of chronic ulcers of the foot in diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2016 Jan;32 Suppl 1:154–68.
- 17. Hoggan BL, Cameron AL. Systematic review of hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of nonneurological soft tissue radiation-related injuries. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2014 Jun;22(6):1715–26.
- 18. Huang ET, Mansouri J, Murad MH, Joseph WS, Strauss MB, Tettelbach W, et al. A clinical practice guideline for the use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. Undersea Hyperb Med J Undersea Hyperb Med Soc Inc. 2015 Jun;42(3):205–47.
- 19. Health Quality Ontario. Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy for the Treatment of Diabetic Foot Ulcers: A Health Technology Assessment. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2017;17(5):1–142.
- Lauvrak V, Fronsdal KB, Ormstad SS, Vaagbo G, Fure B. Effectiveness of Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy in Patients with Late Radiation Tissue Injury or Diabetic Foot Ulcer [Internet]. Oslo, Norway: Knowledge Centre for the Health Services at The Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH); 2015. Available from: https://www.fhi.no/en/publ/2015/effectiveness-of-hyperbaric-oxygentherapy-in-patients-with-late-radiation-/
- 21. O'Reilly D, Pasricha A, Campbell K, Burke N, Assasi N, Bowen JM, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for diabetic ulcers: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2013 Jul;29(3):269–81.
- 22. Peters EJ, Lipsky BA, Aragon-Sanchez J, Boyko EJ, Diggle M, Embil JM, et al. Interventions in the management of infection in the foot in diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2016 Jan;32 Suppl 1:145–53.
- 23. Reddy M. Pressure ulcers: treatment. BMJ Clin Evid [Internet]. 2015 Dec 11;2015. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4678418/
- 24. Santema TB, Stoekenbroek RM, van Steekelenburg KC, van Hulst RA, Koelemay MJ, Ubbink DT. Economic outcomes in clinical studies assessing hyperbaric oxygen in the treatment of acute and chronic wounds. Diving Hyperb Med. 2015 Dec;45(4):228–34.
- 25. Stoekenbroek RM, Santema TB, Legemate DA, Ubbink DT, van den Brink A, Koelemay MJW. Hyperbaric oxygen for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a systematic review. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg Off J Eur Soc Vasc Surg. 2014 Jun;47(6):647–55.

- 26. Zhao D, Luo S, Xu W, Hu J, Lin S, Wang N. Efficacy and Safety of Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy Used in Patients With Diabetic Foot: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. Clin Ther. 2017 Oct;39(10):2088-2094.e2.
- 27. Allen CT, Lee C-J, Merati AL. Clinical assessment and treatment of the dysfunctional larynx after radiation. Otolaryngol--Head Neck Surg Off J Am Acad Otolaryngol-Head Neck Surg. 2013 Dec;149(6):830–9.
- Borab Z, Mirmanesh MD, Gantz M, Cusano A, Pu LLQ. Systematic review of hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of radiation-induced skin necrosis. J Plast Reconstr Aesthetic Surg JPRAS. 2017 Apr;70(4):529–38.
- 29. Braun LR, Fisk WA, Lev-Tov H, Kirsner RS, Isseroff RR. Diabetic foot ulcer: an evidence-based treatment update. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2014 Jul;15(3):267–81.
- 30. Craighead P, Shea-Budgell MA, Nation J, Esmail R, Evans AW, Parliament M, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for late radiation tissue injury in gynecologic malignancies. Curr Oncol Tor Ont. 2011 Oct;18(5):220–7.
- 31. Dauwe PB, Pulikkottil BJ, Lavery L, Stuzin JM, Rohrich RJ. Does hyperbaric oxygen therapy work in facilitating acute wound healing: a systematic review. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014 Feb;133(2):208e-15e.
- 32. Fox NF, Xiao C, Sood AJ, Lovelace TL, Nguyen SA, Sharma A, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of radiation-induced xerostomia: a systematic review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2015 Jul;120(1):22–8.
- 33. Fritz GW, Gunsolley JC, Abubaker O, Laskin DM. Efficacy of pre- and postirradiation hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the prevention of postextraction osteoradionecrosis: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg Off J Am Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Nov;68(11):2653–60.
- 34. Gibson RJ, Keefe DMK, Lalla RV, Bateman E, Blijlevens N, Fijlstra M, et al. Systematic review of agents for the management of gastrointestinal mucositis in cancer patients. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2013 Jan;21(1):313–26.
- 35. Hanson B, MacDonald R, Shaukat A. Endoscopic and medical therapy for chronic radiation proctopathy: a systematic review. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012 Oct;55(10):1081–95.
- 36. Hunt DL. Diabetes: foot ulcers and amputations. BMJ Clin Evid. 2011 Aug 26;2011.
- Jensen SB, Pedersen AML, Vissink A, Andersen E, Brown CG, Davies AN, et al. A systematic review of salivary gland hypofunction and xerostomia induced by cancer therapies: management strategies and economic impact. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2010 Aug;18(8):1061–79.
- 38. Lovelace TL, Fox NF, Sood AJ, Nguyen SA, Day TA. Management of radiotherapy-induced salivary hypofunction and consequent xerostomia in patients with oral or head and neck cancer: metaanalysis and literature review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2014 May;117(5):595– 607.

- 39. Nabil S, Samman N. Incidence and prevention of osteoradionecrosis after dental extraction in irradiated patients: a systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011 Mar;40(3):229–43.
- 40. Nelamangala Ramakrishnaiah VP, Krishnamachari S. Chronic haemorrhagic radiation proctitis: A review. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2016 Jul 27;8(7):483–91.
- 41. Payne H, Adamson A, Bahl A, Borwell J, Dodds D, Heath C, et al. Chemical- and radiation-induced haemorrhagic cystitis: current treatments and challenges. BJU Int. 2013 Nov;112(7):885–97.
- 42. Peterson DE, Doerr W, Hovan A, Pinto A, Saunders D, Elting LS, et al. Osteoradionecrosis in cancer patients: the evidence base for treatment-dependent frequency, current management strategies, and future studies. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2010 Aug;18(8):1089–98.
- 43. Ravi P, Vaishnavi D, Gnanam A, Krishnakumar Raja VB. The role of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the prevention and management of radiation-induced complications of the head and neck a systematic review of literature. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017 Dec;118(6):359–62.
- 44. Spiegelberg L, Djasim UM, van Neck HW, Wolvius EB, van der Wal KG. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the management of radiation-induced injury in the head and neck region: a review of the literature. J Oral Maxillofac Surg Off J Am Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010 Aug;68(8):1732–9.
- 45. Vrieze J de. The metawars. Science. 2018 Sep 21;361(6408):1184–8.